

Audit and Assurance Faculty

AuditQuality[®]

Shareholder involvement – Identifying the audit partner



Should individual partners signing audit reports be identified as well as the firm appointed as the auditor? Consideration will be given to the issues involved and the way forward.



The *Audit Quality Forum* brings together the audit profession, investors, business and regulators. Their purpose is to work together to generate policy proposals that will further enhance confidence in the independent audit by promoting transparency and accountability.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, through the Audit and Assurance Faculty, convenes the *Audit Quality Forum*. The Institute initiated its *Audit Quality* programme in 2002 to drive thinking and practice in the field of audit and assurance. Alongside the Institute's *Information for Better Markets* campaign, the Forum is about working in the public interest to promote quality and confidence in corporate reporting.

The focus of the current agenda is to support shareholder involvement in the audit process. This is just the first stage. To quote from *Audit Quality*, 'Auditing is not a static discipline: committed professionals in any field strive for improvement and audit is no exception.'

There is more work to be done through the *Audit Quality Forum* to explore a broader agenda of issues relevant to the shareholder community.

Further information on the *Audit Quality Forum*, the current work programme and how to get involved is available at www.icaew.co.uk/auditquality or contact 020 7920 8493.

Anyone interested in providing feedback on this policy proposal may send comments to sumita.shah@icaew.co.uk.

© 2005 Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales

Dissemination of the contents of this report is encouraged. Please give full acknowledgement of source when reproducing extracts in other published works.

Laws and regulations referred to in this report are stated as of February 2005.

No responsibility for any person acting or refraining to act as a result of any material in this document can be accepted by the ICAEW, the Audit and Assurance Faculty or authors.

Supporting shareholder involvement

The Audit and Assurance Faculty's publication, *Audit Quality*, identified client relationships, including the effective management of client portfolios and working with individual clients, as one of the key drivers of audit quality. Whilst auditors deal with the directors and management of the company on a day-to-day basis when carrying out their audit, their ultimate responsibility is to the shareholders. The client relationship needs to be managed effectively so that auditors can perform their audit and provide an independent opinion to the shareholders on the truth and fairness of the financial statements which have been prepared by the board.

The statutory audit is a means of addressing issues that arise from the agency relationship that exists between the shareholders and the board of directors. There are, however, perceived transparency issues for shareholders around the effectiveness of audit as a solution to agency problems, including the nature of shareholder involvement and the availability of choice in the audit market.

The *Audit Quality Forum*, launched in December 2004, identified four initial measures that may improve audit transparency and bring real benefits to shareholders as well as the longer-term issue of competition and choice. The Institute established working parties with representation from key stakeholders to take the matters forward and identify technical and practical issues for discussion at the *Audit Quality Forum* on 7 March 2005 and to report on how these matters may be taken forward to implementation.

This policy proposal considers how the information made available in audit resignation letters could be improved



Shareholder involvement – Identifying the audit partner

Preface

In the light of shareholder concerns, this report sets out a policy proposal to improve transparency by disclosing the names of individual partners signing audit reports.

This proposal is part of a series of reports produced to enhance the statutory audit. The report was produced by a working party, details of which are included in the appendix. The proposal was considered by participants at the *Audit Quality Forum* on 7 March 2005. Broad consensus was reached on this proposal with the following matters being identified for further consideration:

- > To the extent that legislative underpinning is necessary, there would be a natural opportunity to introduce this in the planned Companies Bill.
- > The impact of the proposed change on the personal liability of partners was raised. It was noted that in the working party's view, legal liability would probably not be affected. In practice a claim could be made against a named individual but the engagement letter should make it clear that any claims made should be against the audit firm. It was agreed that the proposal should not make liability greater than is already the case.
- > Clarification would also be needed that the person named in the report would be the 'Responsible Individual' for audit regulation purposes.

The report has not been amended in respect of the above matters. It is being published so that the appropriate government and regulatory bodies can take such action as they consider appropriate in accordance with their own due process.

Contents

	Page		
Preface	2		
Executive summary	4		
Identifying the audit partner: the issue	6		
Background	8		
Existing legislation, auditing standards and regulations	8		
Forthcoming legislative changes			
International experience	12		
The recommendations	13		
Companies' legislation	13		
Auditing standards	13		
Auditing regulations	14		
Benefits	15		
Concerns and issues	16		
Next steps	18		
Appendix: Working party			

Executive summary

This policy proposal considers the issues surrounding the proposition that audit reports should be signed by responsible individuals¹ on behalf of their firm. It develops proposals to be taken forward, with stakeholders.

The proposition has been put forward predominantly because of the concerns that currently the individual responsible for signing the audit report is not identified and therefore does not evidence his/her personal responsibility or accountability for his/her judgements.

The working party was split in its views on this debate. Some believed that if an individual signs in his/her own name, on behalf of the firm, then he/she is likely to carry out the audit more diligently, acknowledge more responsibility and accountability for the audit opinion and will take more care about the judgements, given their name will be disclosed. There was also a view that by naming an audit engagement partner, shareholders might have more access to question the auditor. Given that the audit is carried out in the name of the firm, it was felt that naming the audit engagement partner will provide more transparency around the arrangements within the firm.

Others in the working party believed that identifying an audit engagement partner on an audit report could potentially mislead about the degree of responsibility that an individual has on a public interest entity audit. A key point that was noted during the discussions was that there may well be a misunderstanding about the way in which audit judgements are formed by firms. The engagement partner has significant responsibilities both under auditing and ethical standards in relation to the quality of the audit. However, the audit opinion on each audit engagement is the collective responsibility of the firm that is appointed as the auditor and the opinion is in practice, the result of consultation with a range of partners rather than the sole judgement of one partner alone. Signing the name of the firm provides just as much motivation to a partner to get the opinion right as he/she is signing as an individual on behalf of the other partners within the firm.

A major factor that influenced the debate is the forthcoming European legislation that will mandate that the signing partner should sign in his/her own name. The DTI expects to adopt this requirement in the UK, in the form that the audit engagement partner would sign in his/her own name, on behalf of the firm, and therefore the working party's proposals are made in the light of these forthcoming changes to companies' legislation. Additional recommendations are made to help enhance the understanding of the quality processes within the firms and will seek to help clarify the way in which audit judgements are formed in relation to more complex audit issues.

A final issue that was raised was that there could be exceptional circumstances such as the audit of entities that are subject to campaigns of violence, in which it would be inappropriate to name the signing partner, and a mechanism for exemption would be appropriate. This might be along similar lines to the current arrangements in place whereby directors request an exemption from Companies House from having to disclose their personal details when the accounts are filed.

¹ Audit regulations issued by the ICAEW (page 5 refers) state that only responsible individuals working for a firm of registered auditors are entitled to sign off audit reports. In practice firms appoint responsible individuals to audit engagements. These could be partners, (and in certain circumstances) directors or senior managers. Responsible individuals all have the same responsibilities and in practice will follow the standards, regulations and guidance that are set out for audit engagement partners. Therefore, the references in this paper to audit engagement partner also include others who are designated as responsible individuals.

The following recommendations are made:

- > the change in practice to the signature on audit reports is implemented with the forthcoming review of companies legislation;
- > the wording in the current legislation needs to be clarified, to reflect the need for the key/lead audit engagement partner to sign in his/her own name on behalf of the firm;
- > current auditing standards should be amended to clarify that the audit report should be signed in the personal name of the audit engagement partner, on behalf of the firm;
- > there should be brief clarifying language contained within the engagement letter to explain the consultation processes that firms have in place including the internal consultation that firms may undertake in arriving at their audit judgement. The engagement letter should also clarify that claims can only be brought against the firm, as the designated registered auditor by whom the report is made, rather than the audit engagement partner;
- > audit regulations and guidance should be amended in line with legislation and standards; and
- > either in the companies' annual report or as part of a separate statement, the audit committee chair should highlight that the audit committee has formed a view on the firm's quality processes, procedures on consultation and decision-making prior to commencing or continuing the engagement.

Identifying the audit partner: the issue

One perceived concern discussed by the *Audit Quality Forum* is that the name of the audit partner within a firm, who is responsible for signing the audit report, is not transparent. Investors note that directors sign the financial statements, on behalf of the board, whereas audit reports are invariably signed only in the name of the audit firm. Some investors would like to know the name of the partner who takes responsibility for signing the audit opinion on behalf of the firm. Although these concerns are expressed in relation to audits of listed companies, the issue is equally applicable to all audits.

A working party was therefore set up to consider this matter, with the following objectives:

- > to consider alternative proposals to provide transparency for shareholders in relation to the name of the partner signing the audit report and to make a recommendation on this matter;
- > to consider the issues that might arise from such a policy proposal and how such issues might be dealt with; and
- > to consider the technical and practical issues that arise as a result of implementation of this proposal.

Much of the focus of the working party has been to consider the advantages and disadvantages of the audit engagement partner signing in his/her own name on behalf of his/her firm and the related impact on improving transparency and enhancing audit quality. Whilst the working party was considering a single issue, it is not a simple issue, and different members of the working party had differing views about the balance between advantages and disadvantages. Put simply, the financial statement users on the working party believe that the advantages in terms of transparency outweigh the disadvantages, whereas the preparers and auditors on the working party believe otherwise.

However a major factor influencing the debate was the European dimension and in particular the proposals in Article 28 of the draft Directive on statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts (the draft Directive) which would mandate that the signing partner should sign in his/her own name on behalf of the firm. The DTI view is that the possibility of altering this Article before finalisation of the draft Directive is remote, and on this basis the DTI expects to adopt this requirement in the form that the audit engagement partner would sign in his/her own name on behalf of his/her firm. To this extent much of the debate of the working party could be characterised in terms of when and how changes should be made to address the issues raised by investors, and what specific measures need to be put into place to mitigate the concerns raised by the preparers and auditors, where practicable.

The working party also believes there may well be misunderstandings about the way in which audit judgments are formed within the major firms and in relation to more complex audit issues. The responsibility for the audit engagement rests with the registered auditor who, in most cases, is the audit firm. The firm assigns each audit engagement to an individual within the firm who will ultimately be identified as the responsible individual on the audit. The responsible individual is usually a partner, but in certain circumstances, it may be a director or senior manager. This is appropriate as long as that individual has been appointed as a 'responsible individual' by the firm and is registered as such under audit regulations.

Whilst the audit engagement partner who is responsible for signing the financial statements can be identified, it would be wrong to assert that he/she is responsible for all audit judgements that are made. In addition to the direct audit team itself – which may include many partners – listed audits must also have the involvement of an independent partner (APB Ethical Standard (ES)1, *Integrity, objectivity and independence*), generally an experienced senior partner within the firm who will be involved in all significant audit judgements. In addition most firms dealing with listed audits will have internal consultation requirements which, inter alia, will involve the need for consultation with a panel of experienced senior audit and/or technical or risk management partners in pre-defined circumstances. These circumstances would include difficult audit judgements and complex or new accounting policy issues.

When considering the issues and reaching a consensus on its recommendation, the working party has been mindful of the need to consider the impact of any proposals on all the stakeholder parties and to ensure a fair balance for those concerned. It has therefore also given some consideration as to how investors and others might be better advised of audit firm decision making processes.

Background

Existing legislation, auditing standards and regulations

In the UK, there is a legal requirement, through companies' legislation, for the auditor to sign in the name of the firm if that firm is a legal entity or partnership.

Extract from Companies Act 1985

236.—(1) The auditors' report shall state the names of the auditors and be signed by them...

. . .

(5) References in this section to signature by the auditors are, where the office of auditor is held by a body corporate or partnership, to signature in the name of the body corporate or partnership by a person authorised to sign on its behalf.

Further requirements exist in auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board (APB) and audit regulations and guidance issued by the ICAEW.² There are two auditing standards that are relevant: ISA 700 and ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 both entitled, *Auditor's report on the financial statements*. The UK standard has been developed by the APB using the international standard in arriving at its requirements. These specify that the audit report can be signed either in the name of the firm or the personal name of the auditor or both.

Extracts from Auditing Standards

IAASB's auditing standard ISA 700 Auditor's report on financial statements Auditor's Signature

- 50. The auditor's report should be signed.
- 51. The auditor's signature is either in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor or both, as appropriate for the particular jurisdiction. In addition to the auditor's signature, in certain jurisdictions, the auditor may be required to declare the auditor's professional accountancy designation or the fact that the auditor or firm, as appropriate, has been recognized by the appropriate licensing authority in that jurisdiction.

Auditing Practices Board's auditing standard ISA (UK and Ireland) 700 Auditor's report on financial statements

Auditor's Signature

26. The report should be signed in the name of the audit firm, the personal name of the auditor, or both, as appropriate. The auditor's report is ordinarily signed in the name of the firm because the firm assumes responsibility for the audit.

ISA (UK and Ireland) 220 *Quality control for audits of historical financial information* establishes a number of requirements which place specific responsibilities on audit engagement partners for the overall quality of the audit engagement.

² The *Audit Regulations and Guidance* are developed jointly by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. They are issued by each individual body in their capacity as Recognised Supervisory Bodies, to their members.

Extract from ISA (UK and Ireland) 220 Quality control for audits of historical financial information

- 6. The engagement partner should take responsibility for the overall quality on each audit engagement to which that partner is assigned.
- 7. The engagement partner sets an example regarding audit quality to the other members of the engagement team through all stages of the audit engagement. Ordinarily this example is provided through the actions of the engagement partner and through appropriate messages to the engagement team. Such actions and messages emphasize:
- *a)* The importance of:
 - (i) performing work that complies with professional standards and regulatory and legal requirements;
 - (ii) complying with the firm's quality control policies and procedures as applicable; and
 - (iii) issuing auditor's reports that are appropriate in the circumstances; and
- b) The fact that quality is essential in performing audit engagements.

In addition, ISA (UK and Ireland) 220 covers a range of other aspects of quality control, e.g. requirements on consultation and the engagement quality control review equivalent to the UK independent review partner role outlined in the APB's ES1 *Integrity, objectivity and independence* which states that the firm's policies and procedures should, in the case of listed companies, require a review by an independent partner.

Extract from the APB's Ethical Standard 1 *Integrity, objectivity and independence Review by an Independent Partner*

- 41. In the case of listed companies the independent partner should:
- (a) consider the audit firm's compliance with APB Ethical Standards in relation to the audit engagement;
- (b) form an independent opinion as to the appropriateness and adequacy of the safeguards applied; and
- (c) consider the adequacy of the document of the audit engagement partner's consideration of the auditor's objectivity and independence...

The audit engagement partner also has specific responsibility in relation to the audit. If he/she remains unable to conclude that any threat to objectivity and independence has been properly addressed or if there is a disagreement with the independent partner, then the ethics partner needs to be consulted.

Extracts from the APB's Ethical Standard 1 *Integrity, objectivity and independence* in relation to the engagement partner.

- 32. The audit firm should establish policies and procedures to require the audit engagement partner to identify and assess the significance of threats to the auditors 'objectivity, including any perceived loss of independence:
- (a) when considering whether to accept or retain an audit engagement;
- (b) when planning the audit;
- (c) when forming an opinion on the financial statements;
- (d) when considering whether to accept or retain an engagement to provide non-audit services to an audit client; and
- (e) when potential threats are reported to him or her.
- 36. If the audit engagement partner identifies threats to the auditors' objectivity, including any perceived loss of independence, he or she should identify and assess the effectiveness of the available safeguards and apply such safeguards as are sufficient to eliminate the threats or reduce them to an acceptable level.
- 39. The audit engagement partner should not accept or should not continue an audit engagement if he or she concludes that any threats to the auditors' objectivity and independence cannot be reduced to an acceptable level.
- 43. At the end of the audit process, when forming an opinion but before issuing the report on the financial statements, the audit engagement partner should reach an overall conclusion that any threats to objectivity and independence have been properly addressed in accordance with APB Ethical Standards. If the audit engagement partner cannot make such a conclusion, he or she should not report and the audit firm should resign as auditors.
- 44. ...if the audit engagement partner remains unable to conclude that any threat to objectivity and independence has been properly addressed in accordance with APB Ethical Standards, or if there is a disagreement between the audit engagement partner and the independent partner, he or she consults the ethics partner.

Audit regulations and guidance specify that the audit report must be signed in the name of the firm. They also state that only *responsible individuals* working for a *firm of registered auditors* are entitled to sign off audit reports. In practice, firms, especially those that carry out audits of smaller entities, could appoint directors or senior managers (instead of partners) as *responsible individuals*. Responsible individuals are required to follow the same standards, regulations and guidance as audit engagement partners. Guidance provided in relation to the regulations suggest that there is no need for firms that are registered auditors to add phrases such as 'for and on behalf of' to the signature.

Extract from Audit Regulations and Guidance

3.10 Any audit report must give the name of the firm and be signed in the firm's name as it appears in the Register.

Forthcoming legislative changes

There is a further European dimension in the proposals which take the form of Article 28 in the draft Directive on statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts (the draft Directive).

Extract from the draft Directive

Article 28: Audit reporting

(1) Where an audit firm carries out the statutory audit, the audit report shall be signed at least by the statutory auditor(s) carrying out the statutory audit on behalf of the audit firm. In exceptional circumstances Member States may provide that this signature does not need to be disclosed to the public if such disclosure could lead to an imminent, significant threat to the personal security of any person. In any case the name(s) of the person(s) involved shall be known to the relevant competent authorities.

In this context "statutory auditor" means a natural person who is approved in accordance with the provisions of the directive by the competent authorities of a member state to carry out statutory audits.

The requirements as set out in the draft Directive will need to be adopted and published in the UK two years after they come into force in Europe. Most countries in Europe already have this requirement. It is not clear yet how these requirements will be introduced into UK law.

The working party discussed the draft Article 28 and the explanatory definitions and considered some concerns around the clarity as to what is required. The DTI clarified that the intent of the Article is that the personal name of the auditor on behalf of the firm be provided. It was understood that given the timing it was considered that there is little likelihood of proposing revisions to the wording of the Article. There will need to be clarity in the drafting of UK legislation, standards and guidance that will arise in supporting the implementation of the draft Directive in the UK.

International experience

Current practice in the United States is that audit reports are signed in the name of the firm and not the individual who is signing the report. The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) is having a similar debate to the UK in considering whether the current practice needs to be changed. Part of this debate includes consideration of whether providing individual signatures might be inconsistent with the spirit of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and new standards, which strengthen firm-based quality control over individual audits. Those opposing any change also highlighted that section 302 reaffirmed management's responsibility under US securities laws and believed the proposals for naming the audit partner might dilute this clarity of responsibility for the financial statements.

In Continental Europe, practice varies depending on the country. Some countries require individuals to sign their own names on behalf of their firms e.g. Germany (although, in practice more than one partner may sign). Some countries require a joint audit and the appointed auditor from each firm of auditors to sign their own names on behalf of their firm e.g. France. In some countries, the individual signs in their own name e.g. Luxembourg.

The recommendations

Having considered the current requirements relating to the signing of the audit report, the potential legal and practical issues and the need for greater transparency raised by investors, the recommendations of the working party have been centred around the need to ensure that:

- > current legislation, standards and regulations clarify that the signature of the audit engagement partner should be in his/her own name, on behalf of the firm, who is the registered auditor; and
- > specific measures are taken to enhance the users' understanding about the consultation processes within firms, including the decision-making processes that are followed in arriving at the firm's audit opinion.

The specific measures that are required for the change to take effect are outlined below.

Companies' legislation

It will be necessary to amend UK legislation to reflect the final requirements of the draft Directive over the next couple of years. However, it is considered that this change in practice to the signature on audit reports should be implemented with the forthcoming review of companies' legislation.

Existing companies legislation currently states 'References in this section to signature by the auditors are, where the office of auditor is held by a body corporate or partnership, to signature in the name of the body corporate or partnership by a person authorised to sign on its behalf'. On a strict interpretation, it could be argued that this means signing, for example, 'the firm's name', not the individual's name. Therefore, the interpretation of the wording of the legislation in the Companies Act needs to be clarified to reflect the need for the key/lead audit engagement partner to sign the audit report (using her/her own name) on behalf of the firm who is the registered auditor.

The legislation will need to allow for appropriate exemptions in exceptional cases where disclosure of the identity of the responsible individual may lead to an imminent, significant threat to his/her personal security. These could follow the arrangements that currently exist for directors under similar circumstances, whereby they request an exemption from Companies House from having to disclose their personal details when the accounts are filed.

Auditing standards

If we look to existing guidance to assist in interpreting the legislation, the current guidance ISA (UK and Ireland 700) points to signature in the name of the firm. The APB will therefore need to make amendments to clarify that the audit report should be signed in the personal name of the auditor on behalf of the firm.

There will be a need for additional clarifying language within the engagement letter to explain the internal consultation processes that firms have in place including the internal consultation that firms undertake in arriving at their collective judgement. The engagement letter should also clarify that claims can only be brought against the firm who is the registered auditor rather than the identified audit engagement partner.

Audit regulations

Audit regulations are prepared collectively between the ICAEW, ICAS and ICAI. These will need to be amended to reflect the changes to UK legislation and standards.

The benefits of these recommendations are set out below.

Benefits

The inclusion of the signature of the audit engagement partner in his/her own name will provide evidence that he/she has personal responsibility and is accountable to the shareholders for the audit opinion on the audit engagement. This will also address the investors' concern that an individual partner's judgement on an audit may be overridden by a corporate panel within the firm and the individual may currently sign an opinion that he/she is not comfortable with, but would not do so in his/her personal name.

This change in current practice will mean that audit engagement partners will now have the same visibility as directors who currently sign the annual accounts and other documents in their own name on behalf of the board.

Another key benefit is that identifying the audit engagement partner will demonstrate that the audit is a 'human process' more than a checklist approach. It is true that there are both internal and external standards and consultation processes, but at the end of these and supported by them, it is an individual who takes responsibility for committing the firm. The audit process relies heavily on the strength of the audit engagement partner as he/she is the one who normally faces the client when critical issues have to be addressed and therefore the personal integrity of that individual is fundamental to the quality of the audit opinion.

It was therefore considered that identifying the audit engagement partner would enable users to:

- > put a name to the auditor which would aid transparency and help to strengthen, in investors' views, independence and objectivity;
- > feel closer to the individual partner signing; and
- > confirm that the partner was not 'hiding behind' the name of the firm.

Other arguments put forward in favour of this change in practice were that:

- > individual partners may take even more care about what they are signing as there is more motivation to do so if their name is visible and their personal reputation is at stake;
- > it will demonstrate that rotation of the audit engagement partner is taking place every few years;
- > it will provide more transparency that the audit has been carried out for and on behalf of the firm; and
- > it will highlight the specific responsibilities that the audit engagement partner has for the quality of the audit.

Concerns and issues

During the discussions the working party identified a number of concerns with the policy proposal.

In 1996, the APB carried out a survey of the UK profession and users of audit reports to explore the key technical and practical issues associated with auditors signing in their own names. There was a mixed response, and many of the issues raised in this paper were also highlighted in the responses to the APB survey. The APB concluded that there was insufficient support for the proposal that auditors should sign in their own name to justify a change in requirements but did conclude that there was a need to revise SAS240 *Quality control for audit work*. A new standard was issued in September 2000 which, inter alia, emphasised the importance of consultation within audit firms on contentious matters. This was then used as a model by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board in revising ISA200 and the International Standard for Quality Control 1 (ICQ1) which were both issued in 2004. The UK has adopted these standards as part of the issuance of ISA (UK and Ireland) in December 2004.

A major concern that was highlighted in the 1996 APB survey and which has been reiterated during the working party discussions is that identifying the audit engagement partner as a signatory could potentially have a misleading effect by suggesting that only the named individual has full responsibility for the engagement. The individual partner will in most cases be the lead partner responsible for the client, but there is a collective responsibility that is held by the firm as a whole. Some consider that an adverse effect of having a named individual is that the individual may decide not to consult widely enough and gain the views of others within the firm and therefore there is a potential that the quality in the audit process is reduced. Limiting the signature to the names of the individual partners could also be misconstrued as a limitation of the firm's responsibility.

Currently, when individual partners sign in the name of the firm, they sign for the other partners that make up the entity that exists as the firm. This responsibility in itself means that they are likely to take more care in the judgements they make and the conclusions that they come to. In the 1996 survey by the APB, one view expressed was that companies appointed an audit firm based on the quality of the collective audit personnel not the judgement of one individual partner. It was felt that collective responsibility is a far more supportive model for audit quality than individual responsibility.

It was considered that a change will have no impact on the nature of access that shareholders have to the auditor i.e. if they wish to obtain information they will still need to approach the auditor via the client. Auditors usually attend the AGMs and are therefore available for shareholders to ask questions, although, currently, the ability to question the auditor directly is at the discretion of the Chair. There is a call to change this practice and this is currently the subject of separate working party debate on AGMs.

The working party considered that there may be a further risk that identification of the audit engagement partner could serve to reduce the number of firms that are available for audits that are considered to be high risk. Firms that audit many public entities have shown their willingness to resign from certain high-risk organisations. Where they do carry out such audits, they make their judgements and opinions only after considerable consultation with other partners within the firms. If an individual partner is named on the audit report, then this could lead to even more reluctance by the firms to take on high-risk audits, because *individuals within those firms* will be inhibited from taking on such audits (they will feel more personally exposed) – which could be detrimental to the public

interest. Equally, there could be unjustified risk to their personal reputation if, for example, an audited company fails, even if the report has been qualified – this could again be a factor inhibiting partners and firms from taking on or continuing to be associated with high risk work.

Identifying the partner could have other adverse effects:

- > where auditors carry out controversial audits (e.g. where the entity is subject to campaigns of violence), there is a risk to their personal safety if their names are identified; and
- > the number of professional accountants willing to enter the audit field is already decreasing. With the increase in exposure potentially leading to more claims against individual partners and as the risks and liabilities of audit partners increase, this could result in there being fewer partners willing to carry out audits.

Next steps

The working party recommends that the DTI take forward proposals to require the audit engagement partner to sign his/her personal name, on behalf of the audit firm who is the registered auditor.

Appendix

Working party

We are grateful to the following people for their input to this policy proposal issued to the *Audit Quality Forum*. Their input does not necessarily reflect the views of the organisations they work for or are attached to.

Michael Hughes – Chair *KPMG*

Tony Bingham PricewaterhouseCoopers

Terry Faulkner Rexam plc

Julie Ford

Department of Trade and Industry

David Herbinet Mazars

Lucy Myres

Ernst & Young

Iain Richards Morley

Sumita Shah Audit and Assurance Faculty, ICAEW

John Wroe

BT Centre

AuditQuality Shareholder involvement











The Audit Quality Forum first brought together the audit profession, investors, business and regulators in December 2004. This prospectus explains the background to its work and introduces the four specific measures to support shareholder involvement in the audit and the issue of competition and choice.

Questions to the auditor

How can shareholders be empowered to put questions to auditors of listed companies? Consideration will be given to recent reforms in Australia whereby shareholders can write to auditors with questions relating to the audit report or conduct of the audit, and the answers are published.

Auditor engagement: disclosure of contractal terms

How can boards and auditors provide greater transparency around the terms of the audit engagement and give shareholders greater insight into the audit approach and work? Consideration will be given to the content of audit engagement letters and publication of these letters on, for example, companies' websites.

Auditor resignation statements

How can auditors' letters of resignation be made as transparent as possible? Consideration will be given to current law and developments with the European Directive on Statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

FORTHCOMING TITLE

Competition and choice

What practical issues arise because of the perceived lack of competition in the large listed company audit market? Consideration will be given to possible ways of enhancing choice.

